

Engagement with the private sector in health for the COVID-19 response

A comparative synthesis of country experiences in the Eastern Mediterranean Region



Engagement with the private sector in health for the COVID-19 response

A comparative synthesis of country experiences in the Eastern Mediterranean Region



Engagement with the private sector in health for the COVID-19 response: a comparative synthesis of country experiences in the Eastern Mediterranean Region

ISBN 978-92-4-008537-4 (electronic version) ISBN 978-92-4-008538-1 (print version)

© World Health Organization 2023

Some rights reserved. This work is available under the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-ShareAlike 3.0 IGO licence (CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO; https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-sa/3.0/igo).

Under the terms of this licence, you may copy, redistribute and adapt the work for non-commercial purposes, provided the work is appropriately cited, as indicated below. In any use of this work, there should be no suggestion that WHO endorses any specific organization, products or services. The use of the WHO logo is not permitted. If you adapt the work, then you must license your work under the same or equivalent Creative Commons licence. If you create a translation of this work, you should add the following disclaimer along with the suggested citation: "This translation was not created by the World Health Organization (WHO). WHO is not responsible for the content or accuracy of this translation. The original English edition shall be the binding and authentic edition".

Any mediation relating to disputes arising under the licence shall be conducted in accordance with the mediation rules of the World Intellectual Property Organization (http://www.wipo.int/amc/en/mediation/rules/).

Suggested citation. Engagement with the private sector in health for the COVID-19 response: a comparative synthesis of country experiences in the Eastern Mediterranean Region. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2023. Licence: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO.

Cataloguing-in-Publication (CIP) data. CIP data are available at https://iris.who.int/.

Sales, rights and licensing. To purchase WHO publications, see https://www.who.int/publications/book-orders. To submit requests for commercial use and queries on rights and licensing, see https://www.who.int/copyright.

Third-party materials. If you wish to reuse material from this work that is attributed to a third party, such as tables, figures or images, it is your responsibility to determine whether permission is needed for that reuse and to obtain permission from the copyright holder. The risk of claims resulting from infringement of any third-party-owned component in the work rests solely with the user.

General disclaimers. The designations employed and the presentation of the material in this publication do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of WHO concerning the legal status of any country, territory, city or area or of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers or boundaries. Dotted and dashed lines on maps represent approximate border lines for which there may not yet be full agreement.

The mention of specific companies or of certain manufacturers' products does not imply that they are endorsed or recommended by WHO in preference to others of a similar nature that are not mentioned. Errors and omissions excepted, the names of proprietary products are distinguished by initial capital letters.

All reasonable precautions have been taken by WHO to verify the information contained in this publication. However, the published material is being distributed without warranty of any kind, either expressed or implied. The responsibility for the interpretation and use of the material lies with the reader. In no event shall WHO be liable for damages arising from its use.

Cover photos © WHO / Ismail Taxta

Graphic design by L'IV Com Sàrl

Contents

Acknowledgements
Abstract
Key messages
Introduction
Background
Methodology
Analytical framework
Findings
Deliver strategy
Align structures
Enable stakeholders
Build understanding
Foster relations
Nuture trust
Conclusion
References
Annex: Topic guide

Acknowledgements

The World Health Organization gratefully acknowledges the contributions of those who agreed to be interviewed as key informants. This report was written by: Gabrielle Appleford (Special programme on Primary Health Care), Aya Thabet (Special programme on Primary Health Care) and Anna Cocozza (Special programme on Primary Health Care). The overall coordination of this document was led by Mr. David Clarke (Special programme on Primary Health Care). The data was collected, organized and synthesized by Gabrielle Appleford (Special programme on Primary Health Care), Laura Frost (Global Health Insights) and Beth Ann Pratt (Global Health Insights).

The authors express their gratitude to Dr Gasser El Kareem, WHO country office, Egypt; Dr Shadrokh Sirous, WHO country office, Iraq (Islamic Republic of); Dr Aamr Bebany, WHO country office, Iraq; and Dr Alissar Rady, WHO country office, Lebanon for the support provided in identifying country key informants. Valuable contributions and support were provided at various stages by Dr Hala Aboutaleb from the WHO Office for the Eastern Mediterranean.

Financial support for the preparation and production of this publication was provided by Global Affairs Canada.

Conflict of Interest

The authors certify that they have NO affiliations with or involvement in any organization or entity with any financial interest (such as honoraria; educational grants; participation in speakers' bureaus; membership, employment, consultancies, stock ownership, or other equity interest; and expert testimony or patent-licensing arrangements), or non-financial interest (such as personal or professional relationships, affiliations, knowledge or beliefs) in the subject matter or materials discussed in this document.

Abstract

This document provides comparative synthesis of country experience on private sector engagement as part of the COVID-19 response in the Eastern Mediterranean region (EMR), with a specific focus on health service delivery. The intention of this comparative analysis is to distil behaviours and derive lessons between countries to strengthen governance of national health systems, inclusive of the private sector in health. The study methodology included a literature review of articles published between January 2020 and March 2022 supplemented by key informant interviews with government, academic, development partner and private sector representatives. The comparative synthesis highlights a range of practice in response to COVID-19. Practice built upon available institutional arrangements, organisational structures, mechanisms for coordination and information exchange. The degree to which this was effective varied and is reflective of the attributes of EMR contexts to manage change and secure essential public health functions. The World Health Organization (WHO) seeks to support Member States with a practice-based and action-oriented approach to governance of the private sector in health, one that is grounded in context.



Key messages

- ▶ There is need to review, update and align legal provisions and institutional arrangements to ensure these guide emergency preparedness and response, inclusive of the private and civic sectors.
- ▶ There is need for a functional public health review to address role alignment across sectors and organisational structures to ensure that intersectoral models of care and referral pathways are reinforced and utilised.
- Use of available fiscal space and existing financing arrangements can facilitate access to emergency care, and should be coupled with establishing the fair cost and monitoring pricing for emergency services in the private sector.
- ▶ There is need to review and enhance the capture of private sector data in national health information systems, its aggregation and use, and optimisation at national and sub-national level.
- As the COVID-19 response was initially public sector driven/led, this also limited coordination, as the role of the private sector was not adequately anticipated. To rectify this, there is need to address fragmentation within the private sector in health and improve intersectoral and interorganizational coordination.
- ▶ There is need to align health systems and sectors around inclusive and equitable emergency preparedness and response, to build trust across sectors and define a policy agenda that matches public health interests.

Introduction

The COVID-19 pandemic demonstrated that efforts to advance Universal Health Coverage (UHC) and respond to health crises are reliant on a whole-of-society approach. Leveraging the private sector for healthcare service delivery is a key component to achieve UHC and health security, to ensure that health-related services and goods are accessible and of high-quality for all people, regardless of where they seek care, and to effectively respond to health emergencies like COVID-19, harnessing all health actors.

This study provides comparative analysis on private sector engagement for COVID-19 response in the Eastern Mediterranean region (EMR) with a specific focus on private sector health service delivery. The intention of this study is to distil behaviours and derive lessons to strengthen governance of health systems, inclusive of the private sector in health.



1

Background

The Eastern Mediterranean Region (EMR) context is both unique and complex. The region includes 22 countries with a combined population of approximately 679 million people. Countries represent a range of socio- economic conditions, with six countries classified as high income, four as upper-middle income, seven as lower-middle income, and five low-income (1). Nine of the countries in the region are considered fragile (2), defined as countries affected by conflict, emerging from conflict, or otherwise lacking the will or capacity to implement pro-poor policies (3). Crises have exacerbated inequities within society and the health system, with more than 62 million people considered in "dire need of access to quality health care" (4). Contained within these figures are significant numbers of transient, displaced and refugee populations.

Health systems within the EMR are pluralist and often devolved, and include a range of public, private, and civic entities and administrative bodies. Over time, there has been a significant increase in the role and number of private sector entities. In Tunisia, the capacity of private clinics has increased by 36% between 2014-2017 (5). In Oman, the number of private sector hospital beds quadrupled between 2005 and 2017, compared to a 10% increase in the public sector (6). In Saudi Arabia, the total number of private hospitals rose from 145 to 164 between 2015 and 2019 (7). Moreover, a 2021 assessment estimated that the for-profit private health sector was sought for the provision of 53% of inpatient services and 66% of outpatient services in the Region (8). However, this growth was not part of a health sector planning or a pre-defined strategy. Accordingly private providers have typically "replicate rather than remedy the skewed patterns of public health services, with a bias towards richer quintiles in urban centres" (7).

This has resulted in de facto privatisation of the health sector with an ability to pay the basis for access to healthcare in many contexts (8). According to a global monitoring report, just over half of the EMR population have access to basic health services (9). These are characterized by an overreliance on hospital-based, curative care; given this, several EMR countries are in the process of strengthening primary care systems (10) as part of health system reforms.

Within the EMR, similar to other contexts, COVID-19 exacerbated pre-existing weaknesses within health systems. These included inadequate and inequitable levels of health financing, fragmented and inflexible service delivery, limited and inefficiently distributed human and physical resources, and weak surveillance and health information systems (10). COVID-19 has further provided an opportunity to reposition health and preparedness within regional and national agendas, and drive cooperation and a shared sense of responsibility, within and across countries (11). This study is intended to support this drive.

Methodology

The study methodology was comprised of two phases. In phase one, a quick desk review was conducted where the WHO COVID-19 Database and Google Scholar were searched for articles published between January 2020 and March 2022. Articles in English were included that discussed a combination of key concepts, including COVID-19 response/ preparedness, private health sector, governance, regulation, and public health policy, filtered by selected EMR countries (Iraq, Iran (Islamic Republic of), Lebanon and Egypt). Additional background articles relevant to the EMR context at the time of the pandemic were also included in the review. Since our focus was on EMR and selected country cases, we excluded articles that focused on other regions, and the global COVID-19 response. Separate desk review reports were developed for each of the country case studies.

During phase two, key informant interviews were undertaken with representatives from government, academia, development partners, and the private. In the initial half of 2022, the WHO/WCO, in collaboration with the WHO Regional Office for the Eastern Mediterranean, identified relevant stakeholders based on their roles within the health system. These stakeholders were then engaged in insightful discussions using a semi-structured interview guide (see Annex). This was developed by WHO and adapted to country context and the respondent's specific areas of knowledge and expertise. Quotations are referenced accordingly in the document.

Interviews were conducted by two researchers using Microsoft Teams software. Written consent was obtained in advance of the interview. Interviews were transcribed using an Artificial Intelligence (AI) software (i.e., Otter.ai). A coding frame was developed for data extraction and analysed using a framework analysis approach, built on the six governance behaviours, as detailed below. Framework analyses is increasingly used for policy research because it provides an efficient, transparent and systematic way to compare and combine data (8). The approach is also useful for conducting analysis across teams. The framework matrix was developed by the researchers for the analysis using Microsoft Excel 2016. The matrix was constructed horizontally with the key themes and vertically by respondent. Interview notes were condensed, with information arising from data sources inserted into the matrix. Quotes from the transcripts were inserted as part of data extraction. Where needed, the researchers compared notes and understanding to ensure completeness of information and consistency of interpretation. Discussion of draft findings within the research team supported reliability of analysis.

The researchers are public health specialists with extensive contextual experience, subject matter expertise and qualitative research skills. Three researchers are with the Special Programme on Primary Health Care while the other two researchers were contracted by WHO specifically for the country case studies. Ethical approval was granted under protocol [ID: CERC.0142].

Analytical framework

The paper has been structured using the WHO governance behaviours, as presented in the WHO strategy, "Engaging the private health service delivery sector through governance in mixed health systems." Governance behaviours have been operationalized for the COVID-19 response as follows:

- ▶ **Delivery strategy:** inclusion of the private sector in health in policy to promote and protect essential public health functions at national and subnational levels as part of the COVID-19 response
- ▶ Align structures: alignment of public and private structures for the COVID-19 response
- ▶ Enable stakeholders: implementation of financing and regulatory measures for the COVID-19 response
- ▶ **Build understanding:** private sector data capture and information exchange for the COVID-19 response
- ▶ Foster relations: coordination arrangements and sectoral engagement and its institutionalization in health decision-making for the COVID-19 response
- ▶ Nurture trust: recognition and management of competing interests as part of the COVID-19 response

Findings have been framed under each of the governance behaviours. Key messages are outlined for consideration by EMR Member States.

Findings

In phase I, a total of 78 articles were extracted and fully analysed. Most articles were on Lebanon (n=31) followed by Iran (Islamic Republic of) (n=28) and Egypt (n=11). While only eight articles were found to be relevant in Iraq.

Phase II included 17 stakeholder interviews which were conducted over the period April to July 2022. Stakeholders included six academic respondents, three private sector respondents, seven development partner respondents and one government respondent.

Emerging themes were consistent with the pre-defined themes outlined in the analytical framework as follows.



Deliver strategy



There is need to review, update and align legal provisions and institutional arrangements to ensure these guide emergency preparedness and response. The inclusion of the private and civic sectors within provisions and arrangements should guide engagement and facilitate surge capacity.

CONSIDERATIONS

- ▶ Define a health emergency and disaster risk management (HEDRM) strategy and system that integrates public health and emergency preparedness and response functions.
- ▶ Use review processes to inform national legislation and other relevant policy frameworks for public health and emergency preparedness and response (and health resilience more broadly).
- ▶ Include the private and civic sectors within public policy frameworks, emergency preparedness and response functions.

In some EMR countries, policy vacuums pre-existed the pandemic which created legal and institutional barriers for the COVID-19 response and the effective inclusion of the private sector in health. In Iraq, despite legal provisions and institutional arrangements for disaster preparedness, there has been a tradition of reactive response to emergencies (9). While private health service providers have demonstrated resilience in the face of emergencies, its role is not recognised within provisions and arrangements (10). During the COVID-19 pandemic, the role of private providers in the Iraqi response expanded due to population demand and public sector constraints (private sector respondent). This was pragmatic, not based on precedent or founded in public health law, which was considered outdated. In Egypt, governance functions and the quality of public administration have constrained health protection with de facto privatisation of the health sector over time (11). During COVID-19, while a clear strategy was developed to optimise care pathways, this only envisaged a role for the public sector. Overtime, central control of the response was relinquished as governorates sought to contain COVID-19 surges using alternative means, including the private sector in health (academic respondent).

In contrast, in Iran (Islamic Republic of) and Lebanon, intersectoral collaboration had been promoted prior to the pandemic and included the private sector in health. Iran (Islamic Republic of) had learned from previous emergencies and recognised the importance of partnerships with the private sector, institutionalization of a multisectoral response, integration of emergency response into primary care, and the need for civic and municipal engagement (12). In Lebanon, an emergency health contingency plan was in place and provided a framework for public-private engagement for the COVID-19 response (13). In both countries, respective COVID-19 response plans identified a range of private sector entities and assigned broad roles but did not provide modalities for surge response, which had to compete with other intersecting crises, as in the case of Lebanon, and economic sanctions, as in the case of Iran (Islamic Republic of).

Align structures



There is need for a functional public health review to address role alignment across sectors and organisational structures. The review should clarify the role of primary care entities within public health, preparedness and emergency response to ensure that models of care and referral pathways are reinforced and utilised.

CONSIDERATIONS

- ▶ Employ a resource-based approach to the COVID-19 response by enlisting all available public, private and civic structures.
- ▶ Jointly define and align roles and responsibilities of public, private and civic sector entities in public health, emergency preparedness and response.
- Recognise the critical role of primary care, including pharmacies, as the first line of essential health services and emergency "defence" by integrating response functions within frontline structures (public, private and civic).

In some EMR countries, there is limited integration of the private sector in health into service delivery organisational structures. The health system backbone typically comprises a network of hospitals and primary health centres with increasing private sector ownership and dual practice reflected within these structures over time, often as a counter to poor remuneration and conditions in the public sector. Health service delivery is usually decentralised and has resulted in large differences in the composition and capacity of structures across administrative divisions. The private sector itself is generally diverse and divergent and includes private-for-profit, civic, non-profit, and sectarian entities. The COVID-19 response therefore drew on different organisational structures across the humanitarian-development nexus with the role of private sector entities reflective of this variation. This created an uneven response across and within EMR countries, particularly those considered fragile or in conflict.

There was limited change in surge capacity within public sector infrastructure for the COVID-19 response, which, in some contexts, was already in a weakened state due to economic and humanitarian crises. Initially designated testing and treatment facilities were limited to the public sector or allied hospitals, such as university or military facilities. Private for-profit facilities were reportedly engaged "on short-notice" in some contexts, such as Iraq (*private sector respondent*), or their entry into the response guided by "market forces" rather than an official stance, as was the case in Egypt (*development partner respondent*). There emerged a logical delineation of roles across private sector entities however this was not always grounded in an articulated or adapted response plan. There were also examples of innovative public-private partnerships to address capacity in public sector institutions. However, more often than not, contingency plans did not keep up with the progression of the pandemic or the entry of the private sector in the response.

There was limited optimization of primary care in most response structures as a means of triage and referral. As such, many people bypassed primary care facilities and sought care in hospitals which contributed to an overwhelmed public sector. For example, in Lebanon, primary care facilities were engaged to play a role in COVID-19, particularly in rural and disadvantaged areas however they were not utilised by patients due to underfunding and resource gaps. In Iran (Islamic Republic of) counter measures were introduced to distribute COVID-19 cases across public and private hospitals. In Tehran province for example, a bed management system was established, supported by a telephone call centre, staffed by highly skilled health professionals to facilitate referral pathways (government respondent).

In many contexts, private pharmacies remained open and provided patient education and essential services however, their role was less supported or acknowledged by ministries of health. Laboratories also featured prominently in the early phase of the pandemic as they were the first point of contact with suspected COVID-19 cases. The entry of private laboratories was often through market forces and reliant on household financing, limiting testing to those who could afford it.

Enable stakeholders



Use of available fiscal space and existing financing arrangements can facilitate access to emergency care, including through the private sector. This should be coupled with establishing the fair cost and monitoring pricing for emergency services in the private sector.

CONSIDERATIONS

- ► Create financial incentives for private sector participation in emergency preparedness and response using regulatory and payment levers.
- ▶ Review temporary emergency regulatory measures to determine if these can be adopted in the long-term to achieve more efficient regulatory systems.
- Review the fair cost of emergency services (including a gendered analysis of cost).
- Commit to easing the regulatory burden through the adoption and use of digital technologies as well as alignment of authorities and regulatory functions.

Public financing of the response varied by EMR country and was dependent on pre-existing financing arrangements. In the absence of established strategic purchasing schemes, as in the case of Iraq and Egypt, there was heavy reliance on access services in the private sector through household out-of-pocket expenditure. In contrast, in Iran (Islamic Republic of), the government put in place measures to adapt established social health insurance schemes for COVID-19 diagnosis and treatment in participating public and private facilities. However, inclusion of COVID-19 under social health insurance limited the private sector's ability to charge more than the standardized tariff which acted as a disincentive to participate in the response. In Lebanon, where the government is the insurer of last resort for half of the population, the pandemic exacerbated a pre-existing reimbursement crisis, as private hospitals assumed enormous COVID-19-related costs on top of what was already owed to them (17).

Ministries of health sought to reduce catastrophic expenditure through price caps and other regulatory measures. For example, in Iraq, the MoH engaged in dialogue with medical syndicates on pricing and developed a policy position according to which each private hospital should have treated a number of patients for free. In Egypt, the government used price caps as entry point to private sector dialogue which led to an impasse between sectors (*academic respondent*). In this context, proposed price caps were not based on fair costing nor were prices in the private sector considered fair, as these were driven by market demand.

Ministries of health introduced fast-track systems to expedite the procurement processes for COVID-19 items and other essential health medicines and commodities. In Iran (Islamic Republic of), other incentives were also introduced allowing private hospitals to upgrade facilities and equipment for the response (*government respondent*). The government also collaborated with local technology companies to incentivize domestic production of needed essential supplies. In Egypt and Iraq, the government struggled to engage the private sector in regulations, given pre-existing complexity, with roles and authority distributed across different government entities.(15)19) In Lebanon, due to the financial crisis, the government had no resources to establish a stimulus package to help either public or private sector hospitals to respond to COVID-19 (17).

Build understanding



There is need to review and enhance the capture of private sector data in national health information systems, its aggregation and use, and optimisation at national and sub-national level. Data capture and enhancement extends to "normal" times and times of emergency across different levels of care.

CONSIDERATIONS

- Strengthen the mandate and cross-sectoral reach of national health information directorates to improve private sector data capture.
- Strengthen governance and use of digital technology (inclusive of legal and regulatory provisions) to reduce information (and digital) fragmentation.
- Conduct rapid research to understand barriers and enablers to data sharing and information exchange between sectors and levels of healthcare.

In the EMR, data and information were not consistently used for information exchange or as a means to build understanding between sectors. In a number of contexts, there was a high degree of suspicion about the veracity of official COVID-19 data and information that was shared, further reducing confidence in information exchange. In Iraq, pre-existing weaknesses in the health information system constrained the COVID-19 response. The informal nature of private sector inclusion within the response may have also impacted the willingness to report, which was limited and diluted over time (non-governmental respondent). Similarly, in Egypt, the health system also suffered from poor availability of data which shackled the agility of the COVID-19 response (21).

In Iran (Islamic Republic of) and Lebanon investment in information systems included the private sector and were available for the response. Prior to COVID-19, Iran (Islamic Republic of) had invested in a comprehensive integrated health information system that covered the majority of the population. As part of the COVID-19 response, multiple health information systems were used for data capture with challenges experienced in relation to system interoperability and duplication of data (22). Information systems within hospitals, both public and private, were reportedly functioning well and were used to allocate medicines and health devices as well as mediate supply shortages (government respondent). In Lebanon, the health information system was fragmented prior to the COVID-19 response which contributed to gaps in the collection, analysis and sharing of data during the pandemic (20). Furthermore, a lack of shared understanding of COVID-19 reporting elements contributed to data quality issues (academic respondent). Despite challenges, some private sector entities were perceived as extremely transparent in their reporting

Foster relations



As the COVID-19 response was initially public sector driven/led, this also limited coordination, as the role of the private sector was not adequately anticipated. To rectify this, there is need to address fragmentation within the private sector in health and improve intersectoral and interorganizational coordination.

CONSIDERATIONS

- ▶ Include diverse interest groups in emergency preparedness and response structures, accounting for differences in gender, ethnicity, geographic location, among others.
- ► Facilitate the engagement of sectoral constituencies and sub-group interests (such as gender and diversity specific interests) by incentivising private sector organisation.
- Optimise intersectoral and interorganisational relationships through the use of virtual communication platforms and protocols.

The degree to which existing stakeholder engagement mechanisms were used to foster coordination and collaborative decision making varied across and within countries, given devolved response mechanisms. Alternative mechanisms were also used by non-state actors and UN agencies to coordinate directly with municipalities and communities (9, 21). In some contexts, there were underdeveloped and fragmented coordination arrangements in place. In Iraq for example, coordination mechanisms are established on ad hoc basis to respond to specific needs and are usually dismantled when they have fulfilled their intended purpose (9). While some mechanisms, such as professional syndicates play a role in coordination efforts within the private sector, they do not have a very clear role in emergencies. Humanitarian settings (such as internally displaced people's (IDP) camps) was managed through existing UN coordination cluster arrangements and not ostensibly through the ministry of health or regional governorates.

In Egypt professional syndicates are well established, organized by profession, with limited interprofessional collaboration (22). Public sector coordination structures also vary, across government departments and sub-national administration functions. For example, private-not-for-profit entities are overseen by the Ministry of Social Solidarity while private-for-profit entities fall under the Federation of Egyptian Industries.

In Iran (Islamic Republic of) the government fostered multisectoral collaboration at national and sub-national level, optimising the wide availability of Iran (Islamic Republic of) medical universities (23). While these mechanisms included the private sector, some sub-sectors, such as the pharmaceutical sector were not adequately engaged, particularly at the onset of the pandemic (academic respondent). Similarly, in Lebanon there were a number of coordination mechanisms established prior to and as part of the pandemic response, which provided for multi-stakeholder representation.

Nuture trust



There is need to align health systems and sectors around inclusive and equitable emergency preparedness and response, to build trust across sectors and define a policy agenda that matches public health interests.

CONSIDERATIONS

- Recognise, mitigate and manage competing and conflictive interests as part of emergency preparedness and response.
- ▶ Demonstrate constancy in communications and engagement (across stakeholders and over time).
- ▶ Emphasise the "public" in governance arrangements to build awareness and voluntary cooperation with emergency response measures.

In a number of EMR countries, sectoral distrust, especially during the early phase of the pandemic, further fuelled population distrust. Vulnerable groups were left to navigate the health system on their own with limited ability of ministries of health to ensure access to COVID-19 and essential health services despite government decrees. In many settings, out-of-pocket expenditure increased during the pandemic. Health workers were also left exposed during the response due to a lack of personal protective equipment (PPE). Some EMR governments did not construct a clear and public request to civic and private sectors on their role in the response. As a result, civic and private sector initiatives were not anchored to policies and priorities; ultimately, this turned the COVID-19 response into a government problem rather than a societal problem as part of a whole of society approach (14).



Conclusion

The comparative analysis highlights a range of practice in response to COVID-19. Practice built upon available institutional arrangements, organisational structures, mechanisms for coordination and information exchange. The degree to which this was effective varied and is reflective of the attributes of EMR contexts to manage change and secure essential public health functions. WHO seeks to support Member States with a practice-based and action-oriented approach to governance of the private sector in health, one that is grounded in context.



References

- World Bank Country and Lending Groups. 2022. World Bank Group. https://datahelpdesk.worldbank.org/ knowledgebase/articles/906519-world-bank-countryand-lending-groups.
- 2. FY22 List of Fragile and Conflict-affected Situations. World Bank Group. 2022.
- 3. Why we need to work more effectively in fragile states. London: Department for International Development. 2005.
- Fouad FM, Soares L, Diab JL, et al. The political economy of health in conflict: Lessons learned from three states in the Eastern Mediterranean Region during COVID-19. J Glob Health. 2022;12:07001. Published 2022 Feb 12. doi:10.7189/jogh.12.07001
- Tracking universal health coverage: 2017 global monitoring report (English). Washington, D.C.: World Bank Group. http://documents.worldbank.org/curated/ en/640121513095868125/Tracking-universal-healthcoverage-2017-global-monitoring-report
- Denizhan D, Rekha M. Mitigating the Impact of COVID-19 and Strengthening Health Systems in the Middle East and North Africa, World Bank Publications - Reports 34238, 2020. The World Bank Group.
- Khan W, Abubakar A, Brennan RJ, et al. Preparing for future pandemics in the Eastern Mediterranean region. Lancet. 2022;399(10329):1032-1033. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(21)02729-X
- 8. Ritchie J, Spencer L. Qualitative data analysis for applied policy research. In Bryman A, Burgess R, eds. Analysing qualitative data. London: Routledge, 1993:17394.
- Ministry of Health of Iraq, 2022 (draft February).
 Universal Health and Preparedness Review.
- 10. Iraqi Public Health Law number 89 in 1981.
- Ghannam, Alaa, et al. Healthcare Protection Policies during the COVID-19 Pandemic: Lessons towards the Implementation of the New Egyptian Universal Health Insurance Law. Social Protection in Egypt: Mitigating the Socio-Economic Effects of the COVID-19 Pandemic on Vulnerable Employment, 2021, https://fount.aucegypt. edu/faculty_journal_articles/876.
- 12. High-Level Conference on Preparedness for Public Health Emergencies Challenges and Opportunities in Urban Areas, Lyon, France, 3-4 December 2018. WHO/WHE/CPI/LYO/2018.64; 2019.

- 13. Joint External Evaluation of IHR Core Capacities of the Lebanese Republic Mission report: 25–29 July 2016. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017.
- 14. Lebanon: Hospital Crisis Endangering Health Government Should Make Payments, Address Dollar Shortage. Human Rights Watch. 2019. Available from: https://www.hrw.org/news/2019/12/10/lebanon-hospital-crisis-endangering-health.
- 15. Private health sector and private sector engagement for Universal Health Coverage Egypt. World Health Organization for Eastern Mediterranean Region, Health System Development Department, Primary and Community Health Care Unit; n.d.
- A. Koohkan, M. Fallahi Barzoki, M. Jafari, Managing the COVID-19 Crisis in the Arab States: Saudi Arabia, Iraq and Qatar, J. Hum. Ins. 2021; 5(3): 34-49, DOI: 10.22034/ JHI.2021.297361.1030.
- 17. Bizri AR, Khachfe HH, Fares MY, Musharrafieh U. COVID-19 Pandemic: An Insult Over Injury for Lebanon. Journal of Community Health. 2021;46(3):487–93.
- 18. Alami R. Towards A "New Normal" in Health Policies in The Arab Countries. ERF Working Paper Series; 2022.
- 19. Maserat E, Jafari F, Mohammadzadeh Z, Alizadeh M, Torkamannia A. COVID-19 & an NGO and university developed interactive portal: a perspective from Iran. Health and Technology. 2020;10(6):1421–6.
- GHS Index. Global Health Security Index 2021 [Internet].
 2021 [cited 2022 Jul 12]. Available from: https://www.ghsindex.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/12/Lebanon.pdf.
- 21. Al-Mulki JM, Hassoun MH, Adib S. Epidemics and local governments in struggling nations: COVID-19 in Lebanon. PloS One. 2022;17(1):e0262048.
- El Bizri, L., Jarrar, L.G., Ali, W.K.A. et al. The role of community pharmacists in increasing access and use of self-care interventions for sexual and reproductive health in the Eastern Mediterranean Region: examples from Egypt, Jordan, Lebanon and Somalia. Health Res Policy Sys 19, 49 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12961-021-00695-0.
- 23. Raoofi A, Takian A, Haghighi H, Rajizadeh A, Rezaei Z, Radmerikhi S, et al. COVID-19 and Comparative Health Policy Learning; the Experience of 10 Countries. Archives of Iranian Medicine. 2021;24(3):360–272.

Annex **Topic guide**

Background

Can you provide a brief summary of your role (optional: and that of your organisation)?

Align structures

Was an emergency response plan ('rule book') developed for the COVID-19 response?

- Did this require any changes to the health policy framework?
- Did this require any changes in roles and responsibilities of health actors?

How was surge capacity addressed? (in the public and private sectors)?

- Were options for expanding infrastructure identified as part of surge capacity?
- Were the needs of specific populations of locations considered as part of surge capacity?
- Were all available private sector entities included in plans for surge capacity?
- Were changes in roles and responsibilities envisaged as part of this?
- Did the response plan cater to the needs and capacities of different private sector entities?

Has the response adapted over time?

- Were there any adverse practices displayed by some segments of the health sector during the COVID-19 response that you are aware of? [probe for specific examples]
- Did these emerge over time, in response to emergency peaks in demand?
- · What were the root causes?
- · What were the consequences?

Foster relations

How was coordination of the COVID-19 response structured?

- Did the coordination platform include the private sector?
- Which private sector entities were represented in coordination platforms?
- · How were these entities identified?
- How did these entities cascade information to their constituencies? [probe: formal and informal channels]
- In your opinion, were all critical voices represented? Were any left out?

What digital tools/platforms have been established or optimised for communication and coordination as part of the response?

Build understanding

What information was available on the private sector before the pandemic?

- How was sectoral reporting catered for in the HIS?
- Which parts of the private were reporting?
- What informational gaps were present?
- What data quality gaps were present?

What information was collected on the private sector as part of the COVID-19 response?

- Were private providers identified and mapped for the COVID-19 response?
- What reporting mechanisms were put in place for the COVID-19 response?
- Were any enhancements needed/taken to optimise reporting mechanisms?
- Were any enhancements taken to improve data quality as part of the response?
- Did this vary by private sector type?

How were data and trends communicated across sectors and levels of the health system during the COVID-19 response?

How did data and information inform decisions in relation to the private sector?

What other information sources were available/used during the COVID-19 response?

Enable stakeholders

What regulatory measures were introduced or adapted by government as part of the COVID-19 response?

- When were they introduced/adapted for the response?
- What was the motivation for their introduction/adaptation?
- Were measures specific to the private sector?
- How was compliance monitored and enforced?
- Was there a means of receiving feedback to address emergent concerns? [probe: formal and informal]
- Overall, how do you think the regulatory measures performed? [probe: capacities, resources]

Were any financing measures introduced as part of the response?

- When were they introduced/adapted for the response?
- What was the motivation for their introduction/adaptation?
- Were measures specific to the private sector?
- If measures addressed subsidy/reimbursement to the private sector, how was a fair cost established?
- · How was compliance monitored and enforced?
- Was there a means of receiving feedback to address emergent concerns? [probe: formal and informal]
- Overall, how do you think the financing measures performed? [probe: capacities, resources]

Nurture trust

How was equity considered as part of the COVID-19 response?

- How were the needs of specific populations catered for as part of the response?
- How was affordability addressed/monitored?
- How were consumer concerns communicated as part of the COVID-19 response?
- How did government act upon such information/concerns?
- Were perspectives of frontline service providers (public and private) considered as part of the COVID-19 response?
- Overall, do you think the response instilled trust in the health system?

Deliver strategy

How did the COVID-19 response perform in your context? Was this considered effective?

- · What metrics were defined for the response?
- · How were these monitored and communicated?
- · How was learning captured?
- Was there a platform or process for this?
- Was there solicitation and incorporation of diverse perspectives and feedback as part of this? [private sector, frontline workers, the public/civil society]
- What, in your view, were the key learnings from the COVID-19 response?

What actions are needed to improve governance of emergency response and health system resilience?

- Are there specific actions needed for the private sector in health?
- · What steps are needed to initiate change?
- What tools, resources and assistance are needed?
- Are there tools or guidance for engaging the private sector that you have consulted in the past 18 months for the delivery of COVID-19 vaccines, therapeutics, and diagnostics?
- Are there challenges that you are facing in engaging with the private sector for which you would like guidance, tools, or resources?
- What features would make you more likely to use a tool or resource? These could include: website accessible or downloadable, video or audio format, or others factors.
- Are there specific tools or guidance you wish you had or need access to?

Closing

Do you have any final comments or questions?

